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The directors are pleased to present their report to the member together with the 
audited financial statements of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 
2024. 
 
We, Taketoshi Tarumoto and Eng Lip Chian Mack, being two of the directors of MSIG 
Insurance (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., do hereby state that, in the opinion of the directors, 

 
(i) the accompanying statement of financial position, statement of profit or loss, 

statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, and 
statement of cash flow together with notes thereto are drawn up so as to give a 
true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2024 
and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Company 
for the year ended on that date in accordance to provisions of the Companies Act 
1967 and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore; and 
 

(ii) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the 
Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due. 
 

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial 
statements for issue. 

 
 

1. Directors 
 
The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are: 
 
Taketoshi Tarumoto  
Unoki Kensuke  
Hiroshi Hagiuda  
Eng Lip Chian Mack  
Christopher Ho Siow Soong  
Ng Lak Chuan  
Tan Piak Gek  

 
 

2. Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures 
 
Neither at the end of, nor at any time during the financial year, was the Company 
a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable 
the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of 
shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate. 
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3.  
 
According to the register kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of 
the Companies Act 1967 the ), particulars of interests of directors who held 
office at the end of the financial year (including those held by their spouses and 
infant children) in shares, debentures, warrants and share options in the Company 
and in related corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiaries) are as follows: 
 

Name of director and corporation 
in which interests are held 

Holdings 
at beginning 

of the year or 
date of 

appointment, 
if later 

Holdings 
at end 

of the year 
   
Taketoshi Tarumoto   
MS&AD Insurance Group Holdings, Inc.   
Ordinary shares   
- interest held 1,800 1,800 
   
Ueang Mai Co., Ltd   
Ordinary shares   
- interest held 1 1 
   
Yardhimar Company Limited   
Ordinary shares   
- interest held 1 1 
   
Hiroshi Hagiuda   
MS&AD Insurance Group Holdings, Inc.   
Ordinary shares   
- deemed interest 1,361 4,264 

 
4. Share options 

 
There were no share options granted by the Company to any person to take up 
unissued ordinary shares of the Company. 
 
No shares have been issued during the financial year by virtue of the exercise of 
options to take up unissued shares of the Company. 
 
There were no unissued shares of the Company under option at 31 December 2024. 
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5. Auditors 
 
The auditors, KPMG LLP, have indicated their willingness to accept reappointment. 
 
 
 
On behalf of the Board of Directors, 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________ ________________________________ 
Taketoshi Tarumoto  Eng Lip Chian Mack  
Director Director 
 
 
Singapore 
28 March 2025 
 
 

 



 KPMG LLP 
12 Marina View #15-01 
Asia Square Tower 2 
Singapore 018961 

Telephone +65 6213 3388 
Fax  +65 6225 0984 
Internet   www.kpmg.com.sg 

 
 

 

KPMG LLP (Registration No. T08LL1267L), an accounting limited 
liability partnership registered in Singapore under the Limited Liability 
Partnerships Act 2005 and a member firm of the KPMG global 
organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Limited, a private English company limited by 
guarantee. 
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Member of the Company 
MSIG Insurance (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. 
 
Report on the audit of the financial statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of MSIG Insurance 
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. the ), which comprise the statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2024, the statement of profit or loss, statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flow 
for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary 
of material accounting policy information, as set out on pages 8 to 80. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1967 the ) and Financial 
Reporting Standards in Singapore ) so as to give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2024 and the financial 
performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Company for the year ended on 
that date. 
 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing ( SSAs ).  

section of our report.  We are 
independent of the Company in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate 
Regulatory Authority Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants 
and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA 
Code.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Other information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information contained in the annual report.  
Other information is defined as all information in the annual report other than the 

 
 
We have obtained the  
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we 
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
 
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained 

misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.  We have 
nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of management and directors for the financial statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising 
and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a 
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use 
or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as 
necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to 
maintain accountability of assets. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 

related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has 
no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 

process. 
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.  We also: 
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal controls. 

 
 Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 

controls. 
 
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 

of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 
 

of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 

bility to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a 

report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit 

.  However, future events 
or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 
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 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information 
of the entities or business activities within the Company to express an opinion on 
the financial statements.  We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the audit.  We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal controls that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period 

report unless law or regulations preclude public disclosure about the matter or when, 
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication. 
 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
 
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the 
Company have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
KPMG LLP 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
 
Singapore 
28 March 2025 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Statement of profit or loss 
Year ended 31 December 2024 
  
 
 
 Note 2024  2023 
     
     
Insurance revenue  302,286  304,017 
Insurance service expenses 3 (297,347)  (247,209) 
Net expenses from reinsurance contracts  12,271  (40,560) 
Insurance service result  17,210  16,248 
     
Interest revenue on financial assets not measured 

at FVTPL 5 11,560  11,004 
Net investment income 5 14,515  6,496 
Net gain on reversal of impairment/(loss) on 

impairment on financial assets 5 6  (22) 
Investment return  26,081  17,478 
     
Net finance expense from insurance contracts 5 (8,107)  (7,642) 
Net finance income from reinsurance contracts 5 3,999  3,145 
Net investment result  (4,108)  (4,497) 
     
Loss on sale of property and equipment    (24) 
Gain on derecognition of leases  50   
Miscellaneous income  875  761 
Other operating expenses 3 (1,682)  (1,559) 
Profit before income tax  38,426  28,407 
     
Income tax expense 6 (4,690)  (6,039) 
Profit for the year  33,736  22,368 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Statement of comprehensive income 
Year ended 31 December 2024 
  
 
 

 
 
 

 Note 2024  2023 
     
     
Profit for the year  33,736  22,368 
     
Other comprehensive income     
     
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:     
Defined benefits remeasurements 4   (220) 
     
     
Items that are or may be reclassified 

subsequently to profit or loss:     
     
Net change in FVOCI financial assets     
FVOCI financial assets     

Net change in fair value 5 1,598  9,036 
Net amount reclassified to profit or loss  (6)  22 

Income tax relating to components of other  
comprehensive income 6 (278)  (1,499) 

     
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  1,314  7,339 
     
Total comprehensive income for the year  
 attributable to the owner of the Company  35,050  29,707 
     
     
     



 

 10 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Statement of financial position  
As at 31 December 2024 
  
 
 
 Note 2024  2023 
     
Non-current assets     
Intangible assets 7 134,978  134,978 
Property and equipment 8 3,486  8,901 
     
Financial investments 9    

- Measured at FVTPL  127,350  135,120 
- Measured at FVOCI  335,489  305,076 

Deferred tax assets  3,395  1,990 
Reinsurance contract assets 10(b) 25,826  27,399 
  630,524  613,464 
Current assets     
Reinsurance contract assets 10(b) 102,793  90,532 
Cash and cash equivalents 11 88,133  99,516 
Other receivables 12 8,377  5,449 
  199,303  195,497 
     
Total assets  829,827  808,961 
     

     
Share capital 15 333,442  333,442 
Reserves  120,222  107,572 
Total equity attributable to equity holder of the 

Company  453,664  441,014 
     
Current liabilities     
Current tax payables  14,787  12,345 
Other payables 13 31,640  33,587 
Lease liabilities 20 1,821  3,955 
Insurance contract liabilities 10(a) 243,197  227,725 
Reinsurance contract liabilities 10(b) 176  171 
  291,621  277,783 
Non-current liabilities     
Other payables 13 1,196  1,495 
Deferred tax liabilities  2,594  2,548 
Insurance contract liabilities 10(a) 79,897  84,061 
Lease liabilities 20 855  2,060 
  84,542  90,164 
Total liabilities  374,163  367,947 
     
Total equity and liabilities  829,827  808,961 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Statement of changes in equity 
Year ended 31 December 2024 
  
 
 
    Reserves   

 Note 
Share  

capital 
Fair value 

reserve 

Insurance 
finance 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings Total 

       
       
At 1 January 2023  333,442 (13,028)  112,093 432,507 
       
Total comprehensive 

income for the year       
Profit for the year     22,368 22,368 
       
Other comprehensive 

income       
Defined benefit 

measurement     (220) (220) 
Debt investments at 

FVOCI       
- Net change in fair 

value     9,036   9,036 
Net amount 

reclassified to profit 
or loss     22 22 

Income tax relating to 
components of 
other 
comprehensive 
income 6  (1,536)  37 (1,499) 

       
Other comprehensive 

income for the year, 
net of tax   7,500  (161) 7,339 

Total comprehensive 
income for the year   7,500  22,207 29,707 

       
Transactions with 

owner, recorded 
directly in equity       

Contributions by and 
distributions to 
owner       

Dividends declared 15    (21,200) (21,200) 
Total transactions with 

owner     (21,200) (21,200) 
       
At 31 December 2023  333,442 (5,528)  113,100 441,014 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Statement of changes in equity 
Year ended 31 December 2024 
  
 
 
    Reserves   

 Note 
Share  

capital 
Fair value 

reserve 

Insurance 
finance 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings Total 

       
       
At 1 January 2024  333,442 (5,528)  113,100 441,014 
       
Total comprehensive 

income for the year       
Profit for the year     33,736 33,736 
       
Other comprehensive 

income       
Defined benefit 

measurement       
Debt investments at 

FVOCI       
- Net change in fair 

value     1,598   1,598 
Net amount 

reclassified to profit 
or loss     (6) (6) 

Income tax relating to 
components of 
other 
comprehensive 
income 6  (278)   (278) 

       
Other comprehensive 

income for the year, 
net of tax   1,320  (6) 1,314 

Total comprehensive 
income for the year   1,320  33,730 35,050 

       
Transactions with 

owner, recorded 
directly in equity       

Contributions by and 
distributions to 
owner       

Dividends declared 15    (22,400) (22,400) 
Total transactions with 

owner     (22,400) (22,400) 
       
At 31 December 2024  333,442 (4,208)  124,430 453,664 
       
 



 

 13 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Statement of cash flow 
Year ended 31 December 2024 
  
 
 Note 2024  2023 
     
Cash flows from operating activities     
Profit for the year  33,736  22,368 
Adjustments for:     
Amortisation of net premium paid on bonds  834  208 
Depreciation of property and equipment 3 6,946  7,474 
Dividend received from shares  (3,219)  (3,198) 
Interest income on fixed deposits  (3,194)  (3,156) 
Interest income from government and corporate bonds  (10,477)  (9,045) 
Interest on lease liabilities 20 90  145 
Impairment (gain)/loss on financial assets  (6)  22 
Net increase in fair value of debt securities mandatorily 

measured at FVTPL  (1,048)  (3,536) 
Net (increase)/decrease in fair value of equity 

securities mandatorily measured at FVTPL  (8,726)  630 
Net realised loss/(gain) on sale of investments  7  (818) 
Net loss on sale of property and equipment     24 
Net gain on early termination of leases  (50)   
Tax expense 6 4,690  6,039 
Operating profit before working capital changes  19,583  17,157 
     
Changes in working capital:     
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables  (1,796)  656 
Increase in reinsurance contract assets  (10,688)  (33,893) 
(Increase)/decrease in reinsurance contract liabilities  5  (222) 
Increase in insurance contract liabilities  11,308  21,500 
Decrease in other payables  (2,246)  (795) 
Cash from operations  16,166  4,403 
Interest income received from fixed deposits  2,736  2,912 
Income taxes  (3,887)  (3,830) 
Net cash flows from operating activities  15,015  3,485 
     
Cash flows from investing activities     
Dividend income received  3,219  3,198 
Interest income received from government and 

corporate bonds  9,803  8,700 
Purchase of financial assets, at FVOCI  (179,519)  (371,130) 
Purchase of property and equipment 8 (743)  (933) 
Proceeds from sale and redemption of financial assets, 

at FVOCI  167,409  352,358 
Net cash flows used in investing activities  169  (7,807) 
     
Cash flows from financing activities     
Lease payment 20 (4,167)  (4,461) 
Dividends paid 15 (22,400)  (21,200) 
Net cash flows used in financing activities  (26,567)  (25,661) 
     
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (11,383)  (29,983) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  99,516  129,499 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 11 88,133  99,516 
     

 



Notes to the financial statements 
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These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying financial statements.  
 
 
1. General 

 
The Company is a limited liability company domiciled and incorporated in Singapore.  
Its immediate holding company is Mitsui Sumitomo Insurance Co., Ltd, incorporated 
in Japan. MS&AD Insurance Group 
Holding, Inc, incorporated in Japan.  The address of the Company's registered office 
is: 
 
MSIG Insurance (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.  
4 Shenton Way 
#21-01 SGX Centre 2 
Singapore 068807 
 
The principal activities of the Company consist of the underwriting of general 
insurance risks. 
 
 

2. Material accounting policies  
 
(a)  Basis of preparation 

 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standards in Singapore ( FRS ) as required by the Companies Act 
1967. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except as 
otherwise described in the notes below. 
 
The financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars ( $ ), the functional 
currency of the Company, and rounded to the nearest thousand ( ), except 
where otherwise indicated. 
 
The accounting policies applied by the Company are consistent with those used 
in the previous financial year. 

 
(b) Use of estimates, assumptions and judgements 

 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of policies and reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form 
the basis of making the judgements about carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
revised estimates are made and in any future periods affected.  
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The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of uncertainty 
in estimation at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are discussed below: 
 
(i) Impairment of goodwill 

 
The Company determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an 
annual basis.  This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which the goodwill has been allocated. Estimating the 
value in use requires the Company to make an estimate of the expected 
future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a 
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those 
cash flows.  31 
December 2024 was $134,978,000 (2023: $134,978,000).  More details 
are given in Note 7. 
 

(ii) Classification of insurance and reinsurance contracts 
 
The Company assesses whether the insurance and reinsurance contracts 
transfer significant risk.  More details are given in Note 2(d). 
 

(iii) Level of Aggregation and insurance and reinsurance contracts 
 
The Company will identify the portfolio of contracts and determine 
groups of contracts that are onerous on initial recognition and those that 
have no significant possibility of becoming onerous subsequently.  More 
details are given in Note 2(e). 
 

(iv) Contract Boundary 
 
The assessment of the contract boundary, which defines which future 
cash flows are included in the measurement of a contract, requires 

obligations under the insurance and reinsurance contracts.  The Company 
issued contracts with renewal clause, termination clause, and 
maintenance clause. 
 
Contracts with renewal feature have a re-pricing mechanism and 
policyholders are not compelled to pay renewal premiums. Hence, the 
contract boundary is limited to each renewal date. The Company has 
policies that provide unilateral rights to policyholders to terminate the 
policy at any time by giving notice period as indicated in the contracts.  The 
expected cash flows beyond the end of the notice period are considered 
cash flows of new policies and are recognised, separately from the initial 
contract.  Contracts with maintenance period are recorded as part of the 
contract boundary. 
 

underlying contracts issued within the term on a risk-attaching or loss-
occurring basis. 
 
The contract boundary is reassessed at each reporting date to include the 

and obligations and, therefore, may change over time. 
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(v) Determination of insurance contract liabilities 
 
The insurance contract liabilities of the Company comprise the liability for 
incurred claims and liability for remaining coverage.  Liability for incurred 
claims consist of outstanding claims 
notified and outstanding claims incurred but not reported ( IBNR ), 
including risk adjustment while liability for remaining coverage (also 

consist of the unearned premium 
reserves, net of deferred acquisition costs, including any outstanding 
premium receivables and their values are carried in the statement of 
financial position as disclosed in Note 10. 
 
The principal methods used to determine the Best Estimate of the claim 
liabilities are the Chain Ladder methods, namely Incurred Claim 
Development Method and Average Cost per Reported Claim Method.  
 
The Chain Ladder methods involve the analysis of historical claim 
development and the selection of estimated development based on this 
historical pattern. For later accident quarters where there is greater 
uncertainty, the Bornhuetter-Ferguson method, a combination of claims 
experience and loss ratio assumptions, is used. 
 
The Best Estimate of the premium liabilities has been calculated by 
applying a future loss and expense ratio to the accounted unearned 
premium reserve.  The future loss ratio is set with reference to observed 
loss ratios, adjusted for the effect of recent changes to premium rates, 
underwriting terms and policy terms where applicable. 
 
The risk adjustment is determined in accordance with generally accepted 
actuarial methods including the Mack and bootstrapping methods.  The 
risk adjustment takes into account the size and nature of the business, so 
larger accounts and shorter tailed classes of business will require a 
smaller risk margin than smaller accounts and longer tailed classes of 
business. 
 
Direct, Facultative and Treaty businesses are not modelled separately 
because there is insufficient volume of data to support a credible 
separate analysis. 
 
Similarly, Onshore and Offshore Insurance funds have not been analysed 
separately as the Offshore portfolio is small and there is insufficient data 
to support separate credible analysis. 
 
The Company considers the claim liabilities gross and net of reinsurance 
in its valuation of reserves. 
 
The actuarial review is based on Profitability grouping definitions, which 
is consistent with Group accounting class definitions rather than 
Statutory class definitions.  This makes it easier to compare the valuation 
results to its accounted figures.  It also allows analysis of some classes to 
be performed in more detail, which will improve the accuracy of the 
valuation. The resulting reserves have been allocated to Statutory classes 
based on outstanding reserves for claim liabilities and unearned premium 
reserves for premium liabilities. 
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The estimates of premium and claim liabilities are sensitive to various 
factors and uncertainties as disclosed in Note 18(d) to the financial 
statements. The establishment of these estimates is an inherently 
uncertain process and, as a consequence of this uncertainty, the eventual 
cost of settlement of premium and claim liabilities can vary from the 
initial estimates. 
 
Discount rates 
 
All fulfilment cash flows relating to liability for incurred claims and 
liability for remaining coverage are discounted using selected yield 
curves.  The Company uses the bottom-up approach for computation of 
discount rate consistent with the position taken by the general insurance 
industry.  The bottom-up discount rate comprises of a risk-free discount 
rate and an illiquidity premium.  
 
The Company determines risk-free discount rates using the government 
bond risk free yield curve.  The government bond yield curves will be 
extracted from the relevant source, and linearly interpolated as 
necessary to reflect the required time intervals. 
 
The Company has elected to not hold an illiquidity premium.  General 
insurance contracts have very variable, unpredictable cashflows.  
Therefore, to generate a yield curve that reflects these cashflows would 
require a very liquid asset to be selected, so that it can be sold at any point 
in time in order to meet the liabilities.  Given this, using government bond 
curves to derive the discount rate is an appropriate match for the 
cashflows in terms of both duration and timing. 
 
For the business written within the Company, the exposure is 
predominantly in the domestic currency.  
 
 1 year 5 years 10 years 
 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 
       
SGD 2.78% 3.75% 2.82% 2.68% 2.86% 2.71% 
 
Risk adjustment 
 
The Risk Adjustment is determined in accordance with actuarial methods 
in accordance with generally accepted actuarial methods including the 
Mack and bootstrapping methods.  The risk adjustment takes into 
account the size and nature of the business, so larger accounts and 
shorter tailed classes of business will require a smaller risk margin than 
smaller accounts and longer tailed classes of business. 
 
Applying the confidence level technique at reserving class level, the 
Company estimates the probability distribution of the expected value of 
the future cash flows from insurance contracts at each reporting date and 
calculates the risk adjustment for non-financial risk at the 75th percentile 
(on both a gross and net of reinsurance basis) over the expected present 
value of future cash flows.  A diversification factor is also applied to each 
class to allow for diversification benefits.  The diversification factor will 
be selected on both a gross and net of reinsurance basis. 
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To determine the risk adjustments for non-financial risk for reinsurance 
contracts, the Company applies the confidence level technique on both 
gross and net of reinsurance and derives the amount of risk being 
transferred to the reinsurer as the difference between the two results. 
 
Investment components 
 
The Company identifies the investment component of a contract by 
determining the amount that it would be required to repay to the 
policyholder in all scenarios with commercial substance.  These include 
circumstances in which an insured event occurs or the contract matures 
or is terminated without an insured event occurring. Investment 
components are excluded from insurance revenue and insurance service 
expenses. 
 

(c)  New standards and amendments 
 
The Company has applied the following FRSs, amendments to and 
interpretations of FRS for the first time for the annual period beginning on 1 
January 2024: 
 
 Amendments to FRS 1-1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 
 Amendments to FRS 1: Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 
 Amendments to FRS 116: Lease Liability 
 Amendments to FRS 7 and FRS 107 Supplier Finance Arrangements 

 
The application of these amendments to standards and interpretations do not 
have a material effect on the financial statements. 
 

(d)  Product classification 
 
The Company issues contracts that transfer insurance risk.  Insurance contracts 
are defined as those containing significant insurance risk at the inception of the 
contract, or those where at the inception of the contract there is a scenario with 
commercial substance where the level of insurance risk may be significant over 
time.  The significance of insurance risk is dependent on both the probability of 
an insurance event and the magnitude of its potential effect.  Contracts held by 
the Company under which it transfers significant insurance risk related to 
insurance contracts are classified as reinsurance contracts. The Company 
considers the time value of money in the significant insurance risk assessment. 
 

(e) Insurance and reinsurance contracts 
 

(i) Insurance contract liabilities  
 
Insurance contract liabilities are comprised of the liabilities for remaining 
coverage and liability for incurred claims. The liability for remaining 
coverage represents the Company's obligation under existing insurance 
contracts for insured events that have not yet occurred (i.e. obligation 
that relates to unexpired portion of the coverage period).  The liability for 
incurred claims represents the Company's obligation under existing 
contracts for insured events that have already occurred, including events 
that have occurred but claims have not yet been reported, and other 
incurred insurance expenses. 
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(ii) Reinsurance contract assets / liabilities 
 
The Company cedes reinsurance in the normal course of business.  
Reinsurance contract assets primarily include assets for remaining 
coverage and assets for incurred claims. Assets for remaining coverage 
relates to balances that are yet to be expensed off subsequently (i.e. cost 
that relates to unexpired portion of the coverage period).  Assets for 
incurred claims represents the amounts to be recovered from reinsurers 
arising from claims.  The Company takes into account the effect of any 
risk of non-performance by the issuer of the reinsurance contract, 
including the effects of collateral and losses from disputes.  These are 
incorporated in the balances of assets for remaining coverage and assets 
for incurred claims.  
 

(iii) Separating components from insurance and reinsurance contracts 
 
At inception, the Company assesses its insurance and reinsurance 
contracts to determine whether they contain any distinct components 
which must be accounted for under another FRS standard.  The Company 
separates the following components from an insurance and reinsurance 
contract and accounts for them separately using the applicable 
accounting standards: 
 
 Derivatives embedded in the contract whose economic 

characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host 
contract, and whose terms would not meet the definition of an 
insurance or reinsurance contract as a stand-alone instrument. 

 
 Distinct investment component i.e. investment components that are 

not highly inter-related with the insurance components and for which 
contracts with equivalent terms are sold, or could be sold, separately 
in the same market or the same jurisdiction. 
 

After separating any financial instrument components, the Company 
separates any promises to transfer distinct goods or non-insurance 
services to policyholders and accounts for them as separate contracts 
with customers (i.e. not as insurance contracts). A good or service is 
distinct if the policyholder can benefit from it either on its own or with 
other resources that are readily available to the policyholder.  A good or 
service is not distinct and is accounted for together with the insurance 
component if the cash flows and risks associated with the good or service 
are highly interrelated with the cash flows and risks associated with the 
insurance component, and the Company provides a significant service of 
integrating the good or service with the insurance component. All 
remaining components are then measured and accounted for under FRS 
117. 
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(iv) Level of aggregation 
 
The level of aggregation for the Company is determined by identifying 
portfolios of insurance contracts based on how it manages its business.  
Each portfolio comprises contracts that are subject to similar risks and 
are managed together and dividing each portfolio into annual cohorts 
(i.e. by year of issue) and each annual cohort into three groups based on 
the profitability of contracts: 
 
 any contracts that are onerous at initial recognition; 
 any contracts that, on initial recognition, have no significant 

possibility of becoming onerous subsequently; and 
 any remaining contracts in the annual cohort. 

 
The Company assumes that no contracts are onerous at initial recognition 
unless facts and circumstances indicate otherwise.  For contracts that are 
not onerous, the Company assesses, at initial recognition, that there is no 
significant possibility of becoming onerous subsequently by assessing 
the likelihood of changes in applicable facts and circumstances.  
 
Each group of insurance contracts is further divided by underwriting year 
which is aligned with the Company's financial and calendar year. The 
resulting groups represent the level at which the recognition and 
measurement accounting policies are applied. The groups are 
established on initial recognition and their composition is not reassessed 
subsequently. 
 
Contracts within a portfolio that would fall into different groups only 

ability to set a different price or level of benefits for policyholders with 
different characteristics are included in the same group. 
 
The Company divides portfolios of proportional reinsurance contracts 
applying the same principles set out for the direct side, except that the 
references to onerous contracts refer to contracts which are on a net gain 
position at initial recognition. For non-proportional reinsurance 
contracts, this is maintained at the treaty level. 
 

(v) Recognition 
 
The Company recognizes a group of insurance contracts issued from the 
earliest of the following: 
 
 The beginning of the coverage period of the group of contracts.  The 

coverage period is the period during which the Company provides 
coverage for insured events in respect of all premiums within the 
boundary of an insurance contract. 

 The date when the first payment from a policyholder in the group 
becomes due.  If there is no contractual due date, then it is considered 
to be the date when the first payment is received from the 
policyholder. 

 The date when facts and circumstances indicate that the group to 
which an insurance contract will belong is onerous. 
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When the contract is recognised, it is added to an existing group of 
contracts or, if the contract does not qualify for inclusion in an 
existing group, it forms a new group to which future contracts are 
added.  Groups of contracts are established on initial recognition and 
their composition is not revised once all contracts have been added 
to the group. 
 
The Company recognises a group of reinsurance contracts held it has 
entered into from the earlier of the following: 
 
 The beginning of the coverage period of the group of reinsurance 

contracts held; and 
 The date the Company recognises an onerous group of underlying 

insurance contracts if the Company entered into the related 
reinsurance contract held in the group of reinsurance contracts 
held at or before that date.  

 
However, the Company delays the recognition of a group of 
reinsurance contracts held that provide proportionate coverage 
until the date any underlying insurance contract is initially 
recognised, if that date is later than the beginning of the coverage 
period of the group of reinsurance contracts held. 

 
(vi) Insurance acquisition cash flow 
 
Insurance acquisition cash flows are allocated to groups of insurance contracts 
using a systematic and rational method and considering, in an unbiased way, all 
reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or 
effort. 
 
If insurance acquisition cash flows are directly attributable to a group of 
contracts, then they are allocated to that group and to the groups that will 
include renewals of those contracts.  The Company expects to recover part of 
the related insurance acquisition cash flows through renewals of these 
contracts. The allocation to renewals is based on the manner in which the 
Company expects to recover those cash flows.  If insurance acquisition cash 
flows are directly attributable to a portfolio but not to a group of contracts, then 
they are allocated to groups in the portfolio using a systematic and rational 
method.  
 
Insurance acquisition cash flows arising before the recognition of the related 
group of contracts are recognised as an asset.  Insurance acquisition cash flows 
arise when they are paid or when a liability is required to be recognised under a 
standard other than FRS 117.  Such an asset is recognised for each group of 
contracts to which the insurance acquisition cash flows are allocated.  The asset 
is derecognised, fully or partially, when the insurance acquisition cash flows are 
included in the measurement of the group of contracts. 
 
At each reporting date, the Company revises the amounts allocated to groups 
to reflect any changes in assumptions that determine the inputs to the allocation 
method used.  Amounts allocated to a group are not revised once all contracts 
have been added to the group. 
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At each reporting date, if facts and circumstances indicate that an asset for 
insurance acquisition cash flows may be impaired, then the Company: 
 
a) recognises an impairment loss in profit or loss so that the carrying amount 

of the asset does not exceed the expected net cash inflow for the related 
group; and 

b) if the asset relates to future renewals, recognises an impairment loss in 
profit or loss to the extent that it expects those insurance acquisition cash 
flows to exceed the net cash inflow for the expected renewals and this 
excess has not already been recognised as an impairment loss under (a).  
The Company reverses any impairment losses in profit or loss and increases 
the carrying amount of the asset to the extent that the impairment 
conditions have improved. 

 
(vii) Contract boundary 

 
The measurement of a group of insurance contracts includes all of the 
future cash flows within the boundary of each contract in the group.  Cash 
flows are within the boundary of a contract if they arise from substantive 
rights and obligations that exist during the reporting period under which 
the Company can compel the policyholder to pay premiums or has 
substantive obligation to provide services. 
 
A substantive obligation to provide services ends when: 
 
 The Company has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the 

particular policyholder and, as a result, can set a price or level of 
benefits that fully reflects those risks; or 

 The Company has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the 
portfolio of insurance contracts that contains the contract and, as a 
result, can set a price or level of benefits that fully reflects the risk of 
that portfolio; and the pricing of the premiums for coverage up to 
reassessment date does not take into account risks that relate to 
periods after reassessment date. 

 
(viii) Measurement  

 
The Company applies the premium allocation approach (PAA) to all the 
insurance contracts that it issues and reinsurance contracts that it holds, 
as: 
 
Insurance Contracts 

 
 The coverage period of each contract in the group is one year or less, 

including coverage arising from all premiums within the contract 
boundary; or  
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 For contracts longer than one year, the Company has conducted 
premium allocation approach eligibility testing where the results of 
the liability for remaining coverage (LRC) under premium allocation 
approach does not differ materially to that calculated under the 
general model.  For each material portfolio, with a significant amount 
of multi-year contracts, the portfolio was explicitly tested to see if 
premium allocation approach was eligible.  The aim of the test is to 
assess the difference between the premium allocation approach and 
the general model results.  The test will be reperformed when the mix 
of business for the portfolio changes over the reporting period.  The 
test results will also be subject to various sensitivity and scenario 
testing based on the experience variance or the economic outlook. 

 
Reinsurance Contracts 
 
 Loss-occurring reinsurance contracts: The coverage period of each 

contract in the group can be less than or greater than one year. 
 Risk-attaching reinsurance contracts: The Company applies the same 

accounting policies as are applied to insurance contracts.  
 
(ix) Derecognition and modification 

 
The Company derecognizes a contract when it is extinguished  i.e. when 
the specified obligations in the contract expire or are discharged or 
cancelled. 
 
The Company also derecognizes a contract if terms are modified in a way 
that would have changed the accounting for the contract significantly 
had the new terms always existed, in which case a new contract based on 
the modified terms is recognised.  If the contract modification does not 
result in derecognition, then the Company treats the changes in cash 
flows caused by modification as changes in estimates of fulfilment cash 
flows. 

 
(f) Investment income 

 
Dividend income on securities is recognised on a receipt basis while interest 
income is recognised on an accrual basis. 
 

(g) Financial instruments  
 

(i) Recognition and initial measurement 
 
Non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities 
 
Other receivables and debt investments issued are initially recognised when they 
are originated. All other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument. 
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A financial asset (unless it is an other receivable without a significant financing 
component) or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus or minus, 

are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.  An other receivable without a 
significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price. 
 
(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement 
 
Non-derivative financial assets  
 
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised 
cost; FVOCI  debt investment; or FVTPL. 
 
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless 
the Company changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which 
case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first 
reporting period following the change in the business model. 
 
Financial assets at amortised cost 
 
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following 
conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 
 

 it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect 
contractual cash flows; and 

 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 
Debt investments at FVOCI 
 
A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following 
conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 
 

 it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both 
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and 

 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 

Financial assets at FVTPL 
 
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as 
described above are measured at FVTPL.  On initial recognition, the Company 
may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the 
requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing 
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would 
otherwise arise. 
 
Financial assets: Business model assessment  
 
The Company makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in 
which a financial asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the 
way the business is managed and information is provided to management.  The 
information considered includes: 
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 the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of 

focuses on earning contractual interest income, maintaining a particular 
interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the 
duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising cash 
flows through the sale of the assets; 

 how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the 
 

 the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial 
assets held within that business model) and how those risks are managed; 

 how managers of the business are compensated  e.g. whether 
compensation is based on the fair value of the assets managed or the 
contractual cash flows collected; and 

 the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, 
the reasons for such sales and expectations about future sales activity. 

 
Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for 
derecognition are not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the 

 
 
Financial assets that are held-for-trading or are managed and whose performance 
is evaluated on a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL. 
 
Non-derivative financial assets: Assessment whether contractual cash flows are 
solely payments of principal and interest  
 

time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount 
outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks 
and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin. 
 
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal 
and interest, the Company considers the contractual terms of the instrument.  
This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term 
that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it 
would not meet this condition.  In making this assessment, the Company 
considers: 
 

 contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;  
 terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable rate 

features; 
 prepayment and extension features; and 
 

non-recourse features). 
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A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and 
interest criterion if the prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid 
amounts of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, which 
may include reasonable additional compensation for early termination of the 
contract.  Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a significant discount or 
premium to its contractual par amount, a feature that permits or requires 
prepayment at an amount that substantially represents the contractual par 
amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest (which may also include 
reasonable additional compensation for early termination) is treated as 
consistent with this criterion if the fair value of the prepayment feature is 
insignificant at initial recognition. 
 
Non-derivative financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses  
 
Financial assets at FVTPL 
 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value.  Net gains and losses, 
including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Financial assets at amortised cost 
 
These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.  The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses.  Interest 
income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in 
profit or loss.  Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Debt investments at FVOCI 
 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value.  Interest income calculated 
using the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and 
impairment are recognised in profit or loss.  Other net gains and losses are 
recognised in OCI.  On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI are 
reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
Non-derivative financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent measurement and 
gains and losses 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL.  A 
financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading or it 
is designated as such on initial recognition.  Financial liabilities at FVTPL are 
measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, 
are recognised in profit or loss.  Directly attributable transaction costs are 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
 
Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value less directly 
attributable transaction costs.  They are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.  Interest expense and foreign exchange 
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.   
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(iii) Derecognition 
 
Financial assets 
 
The Company derecognises a financial asset when:  

 the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire; or  
 it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in 

which either  
- substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 

asset are transferred; or  
- the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks 

and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial 
asset. 

 
Transferred assets are not derecognised when the Company enters into 
transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised in its statement of financial 
position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the 
transferred assets.  
 
Financial liabilities 
 
The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations 
are discharged or cancelled, or expired.  The Company also derecognises a 
financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified 
liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on 
the modified terms is recognised at fair value. 
 
On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying 
amount extinguished and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets 
transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised in profit or loss. 
 

(h) Offsetting of financial instruments 
 
There are no financial assets and liabilities that are offset in the Company and the 

master netting arrangement, irrespective of whether they are offset in the 
statement of financial position. 
 

(i) Property and equipment 
 
Property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and any accumulated impairment losses.  Depreciation is recognised in the profit 
or loss statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives (or lease 
term, if shorter) of each part of an item of the property and equipment.  The 
annual rates used for this purpose are: 
 
Equipment - 3 years 
Furniture and fittings  - 3 years 
 
Fully depreciated property and equipment are retained in the financial 
statements until they are no longer in use and no further charge for depreciation 
is made in respect of these assets. 
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Where there is impairment in the carrying amount of property and equipment, a 
provision is made to write down the assets to their estimated recoverable 
amount based on current market value.  If, in subsequent periods, circumstances 
and events that led to the provision for impairment in value cease to exist, a 
write-back up to the full provision may be made, net of depreciation which would 
have been charged had the provision not been made. 
 

(j) Impairment  
 
The Company recognises loss allowances for ECLs on: 
 
 financial assets measured at amortised costs; 
 debt investments measured at FVOCI; 

 
Loss allowances of the Company are measured on either of the following bases: 
 
 12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from default events that are 

possible within the 12 months after the reporting date (or for a shorter 
period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months.  

 
General approach 
 
The Company applies the general approach to provide for ECLs on all other 
financial instruments.  Under the general approach, the loss allowance is 
measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs at initial recognition. 
 
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether the credit risk of a 
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.  When 
credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, loss allowance is 
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. 
 
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased 
significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Company 
considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available 
without undue cost or effort.  This includes both quantitative and qualitative 

informed credit assessment and includes forward-looking information. 
 
If credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition or if the credit 
quality of the financial instruments improves such that there is no longer a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, loss allowance is 
measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs. 
 
The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased 
significantly if it is more than 30 days past due. 
 
The Company considers a financial asset to be in default when: 
 
 the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Company in full, 

without recourse by the Company to actions such as realising security (if any 
is held); or 

 the financial asset is more than 90 days past due. 
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The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum 
contractual period over which the Company is exposed to credit risk. 
 
Measurement of ECLs 
 
ECLs are probability-weighted estimates of credit losses.  Credit losses are 
measured at the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between 
the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash 
flows that the Company expects to receive).  ECLs are discounted at the effective 
interest rate of the financial asset. 
 
Credit-impaired financial assets 
 
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried 
at amortised cost and debt investments at FVOCI are credit-impaired.  A financial 

-
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 
 
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following 
observable data: 
 
 significant financial difficulty of the debtor; 
 a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due; 
 the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Company on terms that the 

Company would not consider otherwise; 
 it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganisation; or 
 the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial 

difficulties. 
 
Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the statement of financial position 
 
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost and contract 
assets are deducted from the gross carrying amount of these assets.  
 
For debt investments at FVOCI, loss allowances are charged to profit or loss and 
recognised in OCI. 
 
Write-off 
 
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in 
full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery.  This is generally 
the case when the Company determines that the debtor does not have assets or 
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the 
amounts subject to the write-off.  However, financial assets that are written off 
could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the 

very of amounts due. 
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(k)  Functional and foreign currencies 
 
(i) Functional currency 

 
Items included in the financial statements of the Company are 
measured using the currency that best reflects the economic substance 
of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to the Company 
(  
 
The functional currency of the Company is the Singapore dollar.  As 
premiums and claims are denominated primarily in Singapore dollars 
and receipts from operations are usually retained in Singapore dollars, 
the Singapore dollar reflects the economic substance of the underlying 
events and circumstances relevant to the Company. 

 
(ii) Foreign currency transactions and balances 

 
Monetary amounts payable and receivable in foreign currencies are 
translated to Singapore dollars at exchange rates prevailing at the 
reporting date; transactions in foreign currencies during the year are 
recorded in Singapore dollars at exchange rates prevailing at 
transaction dates.  All exchange differences are recorded in the profit 
or loss statement. 

 
(l)  Income tax 

 
Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  Current taxation is provided in 
the financial statements on the chargeable income for the year. 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or 
loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.  
The amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax 
amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to 
income taxes, if any.  Current tax also includes any tax arising from dividends. 
 
Deferred taxation is recognised using the balance sheet method providing for 
temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.  Deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates expected to apply to 
taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected 
to be recovered or settled based on tax rates enacted or substantively enacted 
at reporting date. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right 
to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to taxes levied by the 
same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but 
they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax 
assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 
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Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and 
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which they can be used.  Future taxable 
profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary 
differences.  If the amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to 
recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for 
reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered.  
 
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised; 
such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits 
improves. 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable 
right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the 
deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation 
authority. 
 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and 
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits 
will be available against which they can be used. 

 
In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Company takes into 
account the impact of uncertain tax provisions and whether additional taxes and 
interest may be due.  The Company believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are 
adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors, 
including interpretations of tax law and prior experience.  This assessment relies 
on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about 
future events.  New information may become available that causes the Company 
to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such 
changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such 
determination is made. 
 
Global minimum top-up tax 
 
The Company has determined that the global minimum top-up tax  which it is 
required to pay under Pillar Two legislation  is an income tax in the scope of FRS 
12. The Company has applied the temporary mandatory relief from deferred tax 
accounting for the impacts of top-up tax for the year ended 31 December 2024. 
Based on the initial assessment, the Company does not expect any material tax 
adjustment arising from the implementation. 
 
 

(m)  Employee benefits 
 
Defined contribution plan 
 
The Company participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the 
laws of the countries in which it has operations.  In particular, as required by law 
in Singapore, the Company makes contributions to the state pension scheme, 
the Central Provident 
contribution plans are recognised in staff costs and other employee related 
costs in the same period as the employment that gives rise to the contributions. 
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 entitlement to annual leave is recognised when they accrue to 
employees.  A provision is made for the estimated liability for leave as a result of 
services rendered by employees up to reporting date. 
 
Retirement gratuity 
 
The Company operates a non-contributory, defined benefit pension scheme that 
provides retirement benefits for certain of its employees.  There are no specific 
plan assets to fund the retirement gratuity scheme.  The cost of providing the 
benefit under the scheme is assessed using the projected unit credit method and 
is charged to the profit or loss statement so as to spread the regular cost over 
the service lives of employees in accordance with the advice of the actuaries who 
carry out a full valuation of the scheme at no more than 3 yearly intervals.  
 
Actuarial gains and losses are immediately recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

 
(n)  Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash on hand, fixed deposits.  
 

(o)  Intangible assets 
 
Goodwill 
 
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair values 
of the net assets acquired at the acquisition date.  Goodwill is tested annually for 
impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. 

 
The carrying amount of goodwill for each cash-generating unit is written down 
for impairment where the net present value of the forecasted future cash flows 
of the business is insufficient to support its carrying value. 
 

(p)  Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) where as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  
 

(q)  Leases 
 
At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or 
contains, a lease.  A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the 
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange 
for consideration.   
 
 

  



Notes to the financial statements 
  
 
 

33 
 

As a lessee 
 
At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease 
component, the Company allocates the consideration in the contract to each 
lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone prices.  However, for the 
leases of property the Company has elected not to separate non-lease 
components and account for the lease and non-lease components as a single 
lease component. 
 
The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease 
commencement date.  The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which 
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct 
costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying 
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any 
lease incentives received. 
 
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line 
method from the commencement date to the end of the lease term, unless the 
lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Company by the end of 
the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Company 
will exercise a purchase option.  In that case the right-of-use asset will be 
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on 
the same basis as those of property and equipment.  In addition, the right-of-use 
asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for 
certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 
 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments 
that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate 

incremental borrowing rate.  Generally, the Company uses the weighted average 
cost of capital as the discount rate. 

 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the 
following: 
 
 fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 
 variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured 

using the index or rate as at the commencement date; 
 amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and 
 the exercise price under a purchase option that the Company is reasonably 

certain to exercise, lease payments in an optional renewal period if the 
Company is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties 
for early termination of a lease unless the Company is reasonably certain not 
to terminate early. 
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The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising 

of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the 
Company changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, 
extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease 
payment. 
 
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is 
made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or 
loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 
 
The Company presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of 

current and non-current liabilities in the statement of financial position. 
 

(r)  Government grants 
 
Government grants are recognised initially as deferred income at fair value when 
there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and the Company will 
comply with the conditions associated with the grant.  These grants are then 

.  Grants that 
compensate the Company for expenses incurred are recognised in profit or loss 
and set off against the expenses incurred on a systematic basis in the same 
periods in which the expenses are recognised. 
 

(s) Key management personnel 
 
Key management personnel of the Company are those persons having the 
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities 
of the Company.  The directors, the chief executive officer and certain executive 
officers are considered as key management personnel of the Company. 

 
(t)  New standards and interpretations not adopted  

 
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are 
not yet effective and have not been applied in preparing these financial 
statements.  
 
(i) FRS 118 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 
 
FRS 118 will replace FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and applies for 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027. The new 
standard introduces the following key new requirements. 

 
 Entities are required to classify all income and expenses into five categories 

in the statement of profit or loss, namely the operating, investing, financing, 
discontinued operations and income tax categories. Entities are also required 
to present a newly-
not change. 

 Management-defined performance measures (MPMs) are disclosed in a 
single note in the financial statements. 

 Enhanced guidance is provided on how to company information in the 
financial statements. 
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In addition, all entities are required to use the operating profit subtotal as the 
starting point for the statement of cash flows when presenting operating cash 
flows under the indirect method. The Company is still in the process of assessing 
the impact of the new standard, particularly with respect to the structure of the 

additional disclosures required for MPMs. The Company is also assessing the 
impact on how information is grouped in the financial statements, including for 
items currently labelled as other. 

 
(ii) Other accounting standards 
 
The following amendments to FRSs are not expected to have a significant impact 

position. 
 
 Amendments to FRS 21: Lack of Exchangeability 
 Amendments to FRS 109 and FRS 107: Classification and Measurement of 

Financial Instruments 
 Annual improvements to FRSs  Volume 11 
 FRS 119: Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures 

 
(u)  Presentation 

 
The Company presents portfolio of insurance contracts that are assets and 
those that are liabilities, and portfolio of reinsurance contracts that are assets 
and those that are liabilities separately in the statement of financial position. 
 
Any assets for insurance acquisition cash flows recognised before the 
corresponding insurance contracts are included in the carrying amount of the 
related groups of insurance contracts are allocated to the carrying amount of 
the portfolios of insurance contracts that they relate to. 
 
The Company disaggregates amounts recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss into: 
 insurance service result, comprising insurance revenue and insurance 

service expense, and 
 insurance finance income or expenses 

 
Income and expenses from reinsurance contracts are presented separately 
from income and expenses from insurance contracts. Income and expenses 
from reinsurance contracts, other than insurance finance income or expenses, 
are presented on a net basis in the statement of profit or loss as 'Net expenses 
from reinsurance contacts' as part insurance service result. 
 
The Company disaggregates changes in risk adjustment for non-financial risk 
between insurance service result and insurance finance income or expenses. 
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Insurance revenue 
 
The Company allocates the expected premium receipts to each period of 
coverage on the basis of the passage of time; but if the expected pattern of 
release of risk during the coverage period differs significantly from the 
passage of time, then on the basis of the expected timing of incurred 
insurance service expenses. 
 
The Company changes the basis of allocation between the two methods 
above as necessary, if facts and circumstances change. The change is 
accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate. 
 
For the periods presented, all revenue has been recognised on the basis of the 
passage of time. 

 
The insurance service revenue excludes any investment component.  
 
(i) Loss components 

 
The Company assumes that no contracts are onerous at initial 
recognition unless facts and circumstances indicate otherwise. Where 
this is not the case, and if at any time during the coverage period, the 
facts and circumstances indicate that a group of insurance contracts is 
onerous, the Company establishes a loss component as the excess of the 
fulfilment cash flows that relate to the remaining coverage of the group 
over the carrying amount of the liability for remaining coverage of the 
group.  Accordingly, by the end of the coverage period of the group of 
contracts the loss component will be zero. 
 

(ii) Insurance service expense 
 
Insurance service expenses arising from insurance contracts are 
recognised in profit or loss generally as they are incurred.  They 
exclude repayments of investment components and comprise the 
following items: 
 
 Incurred claims and other insurance service expenses. 
 Amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows. 
 Losses on onerous contracts and reversals of such losses. 
 Adjustments to the liabilities for incurred claims that do not arise 

from the effects of the time value of money, financial risk and 
changes therein. 

 Impairment losses on assets for insurance acquisition cash flows 
and reversals of such impairment losses. 
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(iii) Net expenses from reinsurance contracts 
 
The Company presents separately on the face of the statement of 
profit or loss , the amounts expected to be recovered from reinsurers, 
and an allocation of the reinsurance premiums paid. The Company 
treats reinsurance cash flows that are contingent on claims on the 
underlying contracts as part of the claims that are expected to be 
reimbursed under the reinsurance contract held, and excludes 
investment components and commissions from an allocation of 
reinsurance premiums presented on the face of the statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
For a group of reinsurance contracts covering onerous underlying 
contracts, the Company establishes a loss-recovery component of the 
asset for remaining coverage to depict the recovery of losses 
recognised: 
 
 on recognition of onerous underlying contracts, if the reinsurance 

contract covering those contracts is entered into before or at the 
same time as those contracts are recognised; and  

 when further onerous underlying insurance contracts are added to 
a group, the Company establishes a loss-recovery component of 
the asset for remaining coverage for a group of reinsurance 
contracts held depicting the expected recovery of the losses. 

 
The loss-recovery component determines the amounts that are 
subsequently presented in profit or loss as reversals of recoveries of 
losses from the reinsurance contracts and are excluded from the 
allocation of reinsurance premiums paid. It is adjusted to reflect 
changes in the loss component of the onerous group of underlying 
contracts, but it cannot exceed the portion of the loss component of 
the onerous group of underlying contracts that the Company expects 
to recover from the reinsurance contracts. 

 
(iv) Insurance finance income and expense 

 
Insurance finance income and expenses comprise changes in the carrying 
amounts of groups of insurance and reinsurance contracts arising from 
time value of money, financial risk and changes therein.  The Company 
has chosen to disaggregate insurance finance income and expenses 
through the profit or loss.  

 
  



Notes to the financial statements 
  
 
 

38 
 

3. Operating and administrative expenses  
 
  2024  2023 
 Note    
     
Claims and benefits  168,864  120,841 
Losses/(Reversals) on onerous insurance 

contracts   55  (432) 
Fees and commission  45,789  44,255 
Staff costs 4 51,808  52,310 
Operating lease rentals  333  534 
Depreciation of property and equipment  6,946  7,474 
Advertising and subscription  4,999  2,811 
Printing and stationery  169  231 
Computer charges  2,242  1,363 
Travelling expenses   148  188 
Other expenses (1)  19,823  21,180 

  
301,176 

  
250,755 

 
Amounts attributed to insurance acquisition cash 

flows incurred during the year  (77,513)  (75,862) 
Amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows  75,366  73,875 
  299,029  248,768 

     
Represented by:     
Insurance service expenses  297,347  247,209 
Other operating expenses  1,682  1,559 
  299,029  248,768 

     
(1) Included SAP costs of $7.8m (2023 : $8.0m). 
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4. Staff costs 
  2024  2023 
     
     
Salaries and short-term employee benefits  40,859  39,759 

  4,742  4,872 
Other pension costs  105  72 
Other staff costs  6,102  7,607 
  51,808  52,310 

     
Retirement gratuity 
 
Reconciliation of present value of the defined benefit obligation: 
 
 2024  2023 
    
   
Present value of the defined benefit obligation at 

start of year 1,495  2,080 
Current service cost 53  69 

Interest cost 52  14 
Net actuarial gains arising during the year   220 
Benefit payments directly by the Company (404)  (888) 
 1,196  1,495 

    
Expenses recognised in profit or loss: 
 
  2024  2023 
     
     
Current service cost  53  69 
Interest cost  52  14 
  105  83 

     
Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive income: 
 
 2024  2023 
    
Actuarial losses / (gains):    
Due to change in financial assumptions:    

Change in salary increase rate 
 
 

 
315 

Change in discount rate   (190) 
Change in CPF contribution rates   (25) 
Change in retirement age   (22) 
Change in interest rates on CPF accounts   (4) 
Change in variable bonus amount   (4) 

Due to experience adjustments   150 

Measurement of net defined benefit liability   220  
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5. Net financial result 
 
  2024 2023 

 Note 
Insurance-

related 
Non-

insurance Total 
Insurance-

related 
Non-

insurance Total 
        
        
Investment return        

Interest revenue on 
financial assets not 
measured at FVTPL   11,560 11,560  11,004  11,004 

Other investment revenue   14,515 14,515  6,496  6,496  
Net impairment loss on 

financial assets   6 6  (22) (22) 
Amounts recognised in OCI   1,598 1,598  9,036 9,036 
Total investment return   27,679 27,679  26,514 26,514 
Net finance expense from 

insurance contracts        
Interest accreted to 

insurance contracts using 
locked-in rate 10 (8,107)  (8,107) (7,642)  (7,642) 

Total net finance 
expenses from 
insurance contracts  (8,107)  (8,107) (7,642)  (7,642) 

Net finance income from 
reinsurance contracts        

Interest accreted and 
changes in interest rates 
and other financial 
assumptions 10 3,999  3,999 3,145  3,145 

Total net finance income 
from reinsurance 
contracts in the 
statement of profit or 
loss and OCI  3,999  3,999 3,145  3,145 

Represented by:        
Amounts recognised in 

profit or loss  (4,108)  (4,108) (4,497)  (4,497) 
Amounts recognised in OCI        
  (4,108)  (4,108) (4,497)  (4,497) 
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(a) Insurance finance income and expenses 
 
  2024 2023 

 Note 
Insurance-

related 
Non-

insurance Total 
Insurance-

related 
Non-

insurance Total 
        
        
Net finance expenses from 

insurance contracts        
Recognised in profit or loss 10(a) (8,107)  (8,107) (7,642)  (7,642) 
  (8,107)  (8,107) (7,642)  (7,642) 
Net finance expenses from 

reinsurance contracts        
Recognised in profit or loss 10(b) 3,999  3,999 3,145  3,145 
  3,999  3,999 3,145  3,145 

 
 

6. Income tax expense 
 
(a)  Major components of income tax expense 

 
The major components of income tax are as follows: 
 
(i) Profit or loss     
  2024  2023 
     
     

Current tax expense     
Current year  7,073  6,473 
Over-provision in respect of prior years  (2,560)  (240) 
  4,513  6,233 
Deferred tax expense     
Current year  177  (194) 
  177  (194) 
     
Income tax expense  4,690  6,039 
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(ii) Statement of changes in equity     
  2024  2023 
     
     

Deferred income tax related to items 
charged or credited directly to equity:  

 
   

Net change in fair value adjustment 
reserve for FVOCI investments   278  1,536 

Net change in fair value adjustment 
reserve for retirement gratuity  
(Note 14)    (37) 

Income tax expense recognised in equity  278  1,499 

     
(b) Reconciliation of effective tax rate 

 
  2024  2023 
     
     
Profit before income tax   38,426  28,407 

     
Tax calculated using Singapore tax rate of 

17% (2023: 17%)  6,532  4,829 
     
Effects of:     
 Non-deductible expenses  497  334 
 Tax concession on income from offshore 

insurance fund  30  (217) 
     Changes in estimates related to prior 

years  186  (213) 
      Others  5  1,546 
  7,250  6,279 
Overprovision in respect of prior year  (2,560)  (240) 
  4,690  6,039 
 
The tax expense for the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 has 
been computed at the rate of 17%, being the corporate tax rate in effect as at 
that date.  
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(c) Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development Pillar Two model 
rules 
 
In December 2021, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and 
Development ('OECD') published Tax Challenges Arising from the Digitalisation 
of the Economy  Global Anti-Base Erosion Model Rules (Pillar Two): Inclusive 
Framework on BEPS, hereafter referred 
or 'the rules'. The rules are designed to ensure that large multinational 
enterprises within the scope of the rules pay a minimum level of tax on the 
income arising in a specific period in each jurisdiction where they operate. In 
general, the rules apply a system of top-up taxes that brings the total taxes paid 
on an entity's excess profit in a jurisdiction up to the minimum rate of 15%. 
 
The Company is within the scope of the OECD Pillar Two model rules. Pillar Two 
legislation was enacted in Singapore, the jurisdiction in which the Company is 
incorporated, and will come into effect from 1 January 2025. Since Pillar Two 
legislation was not effective at the reporting date, the Company has no related 
current tax exposure.  
 
Under the legislation, the Company is liable to pay a top-up for the difference 
between GloBE effective tax rates and the 15% minimum rate. The Company has 
effective tax rate that exceeds 15% in Singapore. 
 

  
Tax expense for the year ended 31 December 2024 7,073 
Accounting profit before income tax for the year ended 31 
December 2024 38,426 

Average effective tax rate 18% 
 
The initial 
average effective tax rate based on accounting profit is 18% for the annual 
reporting period ending 31 December 2024. However, although the average 
effective tax rate 
income taxes may not be zero. This is due to the impact of specific adjustments 
envisaged in the Pillar Two legislation which give rise to different effective tax 
rates compared to those calculated in accordance with FRS 12. The Company has 
applied the temporary mandatory relief from deferred tax accounting for the 
impacts of top-up tax for the year ended 31 December 2024. 
 
In addition, based on the initial assessment, there is no material impact from 
exposure to Pillar Two legislation on the going concern of the Company, or on 
any asset impairment.  
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7. Intangible assets 
 
 Goodwill  
  
Cost   
At 1 January 2023 / 31 December 2023 / 31 December 2024 134,978 

  
Net carrying amounts  
At 1 January 2023 134,978 

At 31 December 2023 134,978 

At 31 December 2024 134,978 

  
Impairment testing of goodwill  
 
When testing for impairment, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating-unit 

 is determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections 
based on financial budgets approved by management.  Cash flows beyond the 
budget period are extrapolated using estimated growth rates. 
 
Where the future income stream from the CGU is uncertain, the excess of the carrying 
amount over the fair value of the net assets acquired is written off to the profit or 
loss. 
 
If the carrying amount of the unit exceeds the recoverable amount of the CGU, the 
Company shall recognise the impairment loss in the profit or loss.  The goodwill of 
$134,978,000 (2023: $134,978,000) arising from the acquisition of the general 
insurance business of Aviva Ltd in Singapore was tested for impairment and no 
impairment loss was deemed necessary. 
 
Key assumptions used in the value in use calculations on which management has 
based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill are: 
 
Long-term growth rate 3.00% (2023: 3.00%) 
Discount rate 8.81% (2023: 8.64%) 

 
Sensitivity analysis 
 
Management has identified that a reasonably possible change in one key assumption 
could cause the carrying amount to exceed the recoverable amount.  The following 
table shows the amount by which this assumption would need to change individually 
for the estimated recoverable amount to be equal to the carrying amount. 
 

 

Change required for  
carrying amount to equal 
the recoverable amount 

 2024 2023 
 % % 
   
Discount rate 5.34 4.85 
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8. Property and equipment 
 

 Equipment 
Furniture  

and fittings 
Leased 

equipment 

Leasehold 
improve-

ments 
Leased 
vehicles Total 

       
       
Cost       
At 1 January 2023 10,625 7,337 866 16,117 871 35,816 
Additions 921 12 515 427 846 2,721 
Disposals (1,116)  (495) (6,269) (453) (8,333) 
At 31 December 

2023 10,430 7,349 886 10,275 1,264 30,204 
Additions 743  160 659  1,562 
Disposals (495)  (369) (620)  (1,484) 
At 31 December 

2024 10,678 7,349 677 10,314 1,264 30,282 
       
Accumulated 

depreciation       
At 1 January 2023 7,510 5,048 719 8,253 580 22,110 
Depreciation for 

the year 2,018 1,155 191 3,902 208 7,474 
Disposals (1,093)  (466) (6,269) (453) (8,281) 
At 31 December 

2023 8,435 6,203 444 5,886 335 21,303 
Depreciation for 

the year 1,740 1,144 180 3,629 253 6,946 
Disposals (495)  (363) (595)  (1,453) 
At 31 December 

2024 9,680 7,347 261 8,920 588 26,796 
       
Net carrying 

amounts       
At 1 January 2023 3,115 2,289 147 7,864 291 13,706 
At 31 December 

2023 1,995 1,146 442 4,389 929 8,901 
At 31 December 

2024 998 2 416 1,394 676 3,486 
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9. Financial investments  
  2024  2023 
     
     
Equity investments  mandatorily at FVTPL  104,785  94,579 
Debt investments  at FVOCI  335,489  305,076 
Debt investments  designated at FVTPL  22,565  40,541 

  462,839  440,196 

   
 

 
10. Insurance and reinsurance contracts 

 
Movements in carrying amounts 
 
The following reconciliations show how the net carrying amounts of insurance and 
reinsurance contracts changed during the year as a result of cash flows and amounts 
recognised in the income statement and statement of comprehensive income.  The 
Company presents a table that separately analyses movements in the liabilities for 
remaining coverage and movements in the liabilities for incurred claims and 
reconciles these movements to the line items in the income statement and 
statement of comprehensive income.  
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(c) Assets for insurance acquisition cash flows 
 
The following table sets out when the Company expects to derecognise assets for 
insurance acquisition cash flows after the reporting date: 
 
 2024  2023 
    
    
Less than one year 29,266  28,303 

    
Loss development tables 
 
Reproduced below is an exhibit that shows the development of claims over a period 
of time on a gross and net of reinsurance basis. 
 
The following claim development tables show the cumulative gross and net of 
reinsurance incurred claims, including both reported and IBNR claims, and surplus 
held for each successive accident year at each end of the reporting period, together 
with cumulative claims as at the current end of the reporting period.  This reconciles 
the cumulative claims to the amount included in the statement of financial position. 
 

(a) Gross loss reserves 
 
At end of financial year 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 
        
Accident year        
Before 2018 7,037 7,496 13,117 21,328 29,612 48,083 84,328 
2018 1,894 7,248 16,212 19,733 30,879 50,925 128,553 
2019 7,313 11,083 17,429 38,695 69,736 158,127  
2020 5,302 9,502 19,305 47,232 114,708   
2021 12,338 19,940 40,831 118,303    
2022 24,277 61,844 132,314     
2023 42,769 129,503      
2024 153,266       
Current estimates of loss 

reserves:        
- Direct and facultative 

insurance 254,196 246,616 239,208 245,291 244,935 257,135 212,881 
- Inward treaty insurance 46 47 48 215 934 963 964 
-  Effect of Discounting (4,371) (5,427) (5,924)     
Total current estimates of 
loss reserves 249,871 241,236 233,332 245,506 245,869 258,098 213,845 

Gross liabilities for incurred 
claims included in the 
statement of financial 
position 249,871 241,236 233,332 245,506 245,869 258,098 213,845 
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(b) Net loss reserves 
At end of financial year 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 
        
Accident year        
Before 2018 1,496 3,208 7,707 12,111 18,083 29,883 56,625 
2018 1,262 3,204 6,626 9,941 16,475 32,169 101,949 
2019 3,955 6,242 11,133 20,982 40,089 106,494  
2020 3,581 5,226 11,901 25,761 77,481   
2021 5,519 9,681 22,322 70,176    
2022 9,958 24,698 82,697     
2023 24,844 87,581      
2024 80,127       
Current estimates of loss 

reserves:        
- Direct and facultative 

insurance 130,742 139,840 142,386 138,971 152,128 168,546 158,574 
- Inward treaty insurance 46 46 48 215 934 963 964 
- Effect of Discounting (2,251) (3,042) (3,375)     
Total current estimates of 

loss reserves 128,537 136,844 139,059 139,186 153,062 169,509 159,538 
Net liabilities for 

incurred claims 
included in the 
statement of 
financial position 128,537 136,844 139,059 139,186 153,062 169,509 159,538 

 
(c) Gross claims paid 

 
At end of financial year 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 
        
Accident year        
Before 2018 916 3,459 2,364 6,594 5,789 11,316 85,015 
2018 1,395 5,784 3,939 6,532 15,766 59,635 55,497 
2019 2,200 3,752 9,416 17,664 56,360 54,383  
2020 3,189 6,154 15,324 36,414 39,417   
2021 6,958 11,258 46,680 39,039    
2022 21,043 46,293 36,395     
2023 39,396 43,879      
2024 93,239       
Gross claims paid:        
- Direct and facultative 

insurance 168,336 120,579 114,118 106,243 117,332 125,334 140,512 
- Inward treaty insurance -  1    30 
Total gross claims paid 168,336 120,579 114,119 106,243 117,332 125,334 140,542 

 
(d) Net claims paid 

 
At end of financial year 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 
        
Accident year        
Before 2018 541 2,108 744 3,950 5,060 11,957 59,173 
2018 1,067 1,543 1,677 3,236 7,883 48,561 50,194 
2019 1,116 2,534 2,447 11,238 44,101 49,037  
2020 1,505 2,346 6,809 28,454 32,790   
2021 2,389 4,321 25,927 29,731    
2022 6,788 33,407 31,858     
2023 34,171 40,978      
2024 39,440       
Gross claims paid:        
- Direct and facultative 

insurance 87,017 87,237 69,462 76,609 89,834 109,555 109,367 
- Inward treaty insurance   1    30 
Total gross claims paid 87,017 87,237 69,463 76,609 89,834 109,555 109,397 
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11. Cash and cash equivalents 
 2024  2023 
    
    
Cash at bank and in hand 14,484  16,832 
Fixed and call deposits 73,649  82,684 
Cash and cash equivalents 88,133  99,516 

    
The weighted average effective interest rate of fixed and call deposits is 3.74% 
(2023: 4.10%) per annum. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currency as at 31 December is as 
follows: 
 
 2024  2023 
    
    
US Dollars 31,347  26,906 

    
 

12. Other receivables 
 2024  2023 
    
    
Accrued interest receivable 3,965  3,336 
Amounts due from related companies (non-trade) 236  278 
Other receivables 2,854  390 
 7,055  4,004 
Deposits and prepayments 1,322  1,445 
 8,377  5,449 

    
The management believes that there is no significant credit risk in respect of other 
receivables as they are mainly accrued interest receivable within 1 year. 
 
Amounts due from related companies are non-interest bearing and are repayable on 
demand.  These amounts are unsecured and are to be settled in cash. 
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13. Other payables 
 
 Note 2024  2023 
     
Non-current     
Retirement gratuity 4 1,196  1,495 
     
Current     
Accrued operating expenses  19,993  17,658 
Amount due to related companies  391  338 
Other payables  6,944  11,136 

  27,328  29,132 

     
Provision for unconsumed leave  2,656  3,087 
Provision for employee personal tax  276  295 
GST payables, net  1,380  1,073 
  31,640  33,587 
Total other payables  32,836  35,082 

     
Amounts due to related companies are non-interest bearing and are repayable on 
demand.  These amounts are unsecured and are to be settled in cash.  
 
The expected contractual undiscounted cash outflows of financial liabilities are 
disclosed in Note 18(e)(ii). 

 
 
14. Deferred tax liabilities/(assets)  

 
Deferred tax liabilities/(assets) as at 31 December relate to the following: 
 

 At reporting date 

Recognised in 
statement of  
profit or loss 

Recognised in 
statement of 

comprehensive 
income 

   

 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 
       
Deferred tax liabilities       
Differences in 

depreciation of 
property and 
equipment 170 421 (251) (317)   

       
Gross deferred tax 

liabilities/(assets) 170 421 (251) (317)   
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 At reporting date 

Recognised in 
statement of  
profit or loss 

Recognised in 
statement of 

comprehensive 
income 

   

 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 
       
       
Deferred tax assets       
Provision for 

reinstatement of 
office premises (114) (114)     

Provision for retirement 
gratuity (209) (260) 51 99  (37) 

Other provisions 2,026 1,649 377 24   
Revaluation of financial 

assets to fair value (2,674) (1,138)   (1,536) 1,536 

Gross deferred tax assets (971) 137 428 123 (1,536) 1,499 
Net deferred tax 

(assets)/liabilities (801) 558     
Deferred income tax 

expense/(credit)   177 (194) (1,536) 1,499 

       
 

15. Capital and reserves 
 
Share capital 2024  2023 

 

No. of 
shares 

  

No. of 
shares 

 
Fully paid ordinary shares, with no par value    
At 1 January and at 31 December 333,442  333,442 

    
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared 
by the Company.  All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restriction.  All    
 
Dividends 
 
The following dividends were declared and paid by the Company: 
 
 2024  2023 
    
    
Interim exempt (one tier) dividend of 6.7 cents per 

ordinary share (2023: 6.4 cents) 22,400  21,200 
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16. Financial instruments  Classification and fair values 
 

set out below.1 

 Note 
FVTPL - 

mandatory 
FVTPL  

designated 

FVOCI  
debt 

instruments 
Amortised 

cost 

Total 
carrying 
amount 

       
2024       
Cash and cash 

equivalents 11    88,133 88,133 
Financial investments  

Government bonds     202,214  202,214 
Other debt securities   22,565 133,275  155,840 
Equity securities  48,995    48,995 
Collective investment 

scheme  55,790    55,790 
Other receivables 12    8,377 8,377 
Total financial assets   104,785 22,565 335,489 96,510 559,349 
       
Other payables 13    32,836 32,836 
Total financial liabilities     32,836 32,836 
       
2023       
Cash and cash 

equivalents 11    99,516  99,516 
Financial investments  

Government bonds     186,659  186,659 
Other debt securities   40,541 118,417  158,958 
Equity securities  39,487    39,487 
Collective investment 

scheme  55,092    55,092 
Other receivables 12    5,449 5,449 
Total financial assets  94,579 40,541 305,076 104,965 545,161 
       
Other payables 13    35,082 35,082 
Total financial liabilities     35,082 35,082 
       
1 An entity groups financial instruments into classes that are appropriate to the nature of the information disclosed and that take into account the 

characteristics of those financial instruments.  Although FRS117 does not define 'classes', as a minimum, instruments measured at amortised cost 

are distinguished from instruments measured at fair value. 
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A. Valuation models 
 

The Company measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an 
active market for that instrument whenever one is available.  A market is regarded 
as active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency 
and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.  
 
If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then 
the Company measures assets and long positions at the bid price and liabilities and 
short positions at the ask price.  
 
If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Company uses valuation 
techniques that maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use 
of unobservable inputs.  The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the 
factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.  
 
The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is 
normally the transaction price i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or 
received.  If the Company determines that the fair value on initial recognition differs 
from the transaction price and the fair value is neither evidenced by a quoted price 
in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based on a valuation 
technique that uses only data from observable markets, then the financial 
instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference 
between its fair value and the transaction price.  Subsequently, that difference is 
recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument, 
but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported by observable market data 
or the transaction is closed out. 
 

i. Valuation techniques for Level 2 fair value measurements 
 
Where quoted prices of financial assets and financial liabilities in active markets are 
not available, the following valuation techniques are typically used.  
 
Collective investment scheme  
 
The fair values of collective investment scheme are based on prices provided by the 
scheme managers.  The prices provided by the scheme managers are generally based 
on the fair value of the net assets in the underlying funds. 
 
Other Receivables, other payables and other non-derivative financial liabilities 
 
Fair value is determined based on the expected present value of future cash flows, 
discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.  The fair values of 
payables and other non-derivative financial liabilities reflect their non-performance 
risk. 
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B. Financial instruments measured at fair value 
 

ii. Fair value hierarchy 
 
The table below analyses financial assets carried at fair value, by valuation method.  
The different levels have been defined as follows: 
 
Level 1:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities. 
Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable 

for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., 
derived from prices). 

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs). 

 
The following table analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at the 
reporting date by the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value 
measurement is categorised. The fair values include any deferred differences 
between the transaction price and the fair value on initial recognition when the fair 
value is based on a valuation technique that uses unobservable inputs.  There were 
no transfers during the year. 

 

 
Carrying 
amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

      
      
31 December 2024      

Financial assets measured at 
fair value      

Debt investments  
mandatorily at FVOCI 

 
335,489 249,050 86,439  

 
335,489 

Debt investments  designated 
at FVTPL 

 
22,565 2,481 20,084  

 
22,565 

Equity investments  
mandatorily at FVTPL 

 
104,785 48,995 55,790  

 
104,785 

462,839 300,526 162,313  462,839 

      
31 December 2023      

Financial assets measured at 
fair value      

      
Debt investments  

mandatorily at FVOCI 
 

305,076 255,783 49,293  305,076 
Debt investments  designated 

at FVTPL 
 

40,541 29,447 11,094  40,541 
Equity investments  

mandatorily at FVTPL 
 

94,579 39,487 55,092  94,579 
 440,196 324,717 115,479  440,196 
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17. Corporate governance 
 
The Company is committed to upholding good corporate governance.  The Board of 
Directors and the management team firmly believes that a genuine 
commitment to good corporate governance is essential to the sustainability of the 

.  In this regard, the Company is guided by the 
principles and provisions in the Guidelines on Corporate Governance.  The Company 
also complies with the relevant provisions in the Insurance (Corporate Governance) 
Regulations 2013.  corporate governance 
practices: 

 
(a)  

 
The main responsibilities of the Board are to: 
 
 Set corporate strategy and directions; 
 Establish the broad objectives and policies for the conduct of the business; 
 Review and approve business plans and budgets; 
 Monitor financial performance; 
 Oversee the process for evaluating the adequacy of internal controls, risk 

assessment, financial reporting and compliance. 
 

(b) Board size and composition 
 
The Board comprises directors who as a group provide an appropriate balance 
and diversity of skills, experience and knowledge of the Company.  They hold 
core competencies such as accounting, management experience, industry 
knowledge and strategic planning experience. In compliance with the 
Insurance (Corporate Governance) Regulations 2013, the Board comprises at 
least one third of independent directors.  
 

(c) Separation of roles  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
 
The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer positions are held by separate 
persons to ensure appropriate balance of power, accountability and greater 
capacity for independent decision making.  The Chairman is responsible for the 
leadership of the Board and the management of the Board meetings.  The 
Board shall approve the appointment of the Chief Executive Officer, subject to 
prior approval from Mitsui Sumitomo Insurance Company, Limited.  The Chief 
Executive Officer has the overall responsibility for the management of the 

policies and objectives set by the Board.  
 

(d) Board meetings 
 
There are four scheduled Board meetings in a year.  Additional Board meetings 
may be held at the discretion of the directors.  A total of four Board meetings 
were held in 2024, with full attendance by all the Board members.  
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(e) Accountability and audit 
 
(i) Accountability 

 
The management will present all members of the Board with 
management reports and performance results on a quarterly basis.  This 
is to enable the Board to make balanced and informed assessment of the 

uarterly 
Board meetings, the Board will meet with relevant members of the 
Senior Leadership Team to discuss and review critically the decisions 
made. 
 

maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 

management and internal control systems are adequate and effective. 
 

(ii) Audit committee 
 
The Audit Committee ( AC ) is appointed by the Board from amongst the 
directors of the Company and shall consist of at least three (3) members.   
 
As at 31 December 2024, the AC comprises five members, all of whom 
are non-executive directors. A majority, comprising three of the five 
members of the AC are independent directors. Ms. Tan Piak Gek, an 
independent director, chairs the AC.  The other members of the AC are 
Mr. Christopher Ho Siow Soong, Mr. Ng Lak Chuan, Mr. Taketoshi 
Tarumoto and Mr. Hiroshi Haqiuda. The members of the AC have relevant 
or related financial management expertise or experience.  None of the 
members of the Audit Committee were former partners or directors of 
the external audit firm, KPMG LLP nor do they hold any financial interest 
in KPMG LLP. 
 
The Chairman and the members of the AC are appointed by the Board. 
 
The AC shall hold at least 4 regular meetings per year, and such additional 
meetings as the Chairman shall decide in order to fulfil its duties.  
Minutes are recorded for all regular meetings of the AC. 
 
The AC, which has written terms of reference approved by the Board, 
annually assesses the performance and effectiveness of the Audit 
Committee, and performs the following delegated functions: 
 
 Review with the Internal Auditors 

- their audit plans, their evaluation of the system of internal 
controls and their audit reports; 

- the scope and results of the internal audit procedures; 
- the internal audit assessments of compliance with company 

policies, relevant laws and regulatory requirements; 
- the annual internal audit opinion on the effectiveness of the 

internal controls; 
- 

respect of internal audit findings and recommendations. 
  



Notes to the financial statements 
  
 
 

63 
 

 Review with External Auditors 
- their audit plan, evaluation of the system of internal controls, and 

any other matters that the external auditors wish to discuss; 
- the audited annual financial statements prepared in accordance 

with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards before submission 
to the Board for approval; 

- Material related party transactions; 
- the nature and extent of non-audit services performed by 

external auditors and the impact on their independence and 
objectivity; 

- external audit findings and recommendations, ensuring that 
these are resolved effectively and in a timely manner. 

 
The Audit Committee meets annually with the Internal Auditors and 
External Auditors without the presence of the management.  The Audit 
Committee annually assesses the performance, adequacy and 
independence of the internal and external auditors. The Audit 
Committee is also responsible for approving the appointment and 
dismissal of the Head of Internal Audit and the budget of the Internal 
Audit function.  The Audit Committee reviews and approves the fees and 
terms of engagement of the external auditor and recommends to the 
Board the appointment of the external auditor.   
 
In addition to its oversight role over Internal Audit and External Audit, 

maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 

management and internal control systems are adequate and effective 
and is also informed of the status and outcome of whistleblowing reports 
and investigations. 

 
(iii) Internal audit 

 
The Company maintains an in-house internal audit function which assists 
the Audit Committee to ensure that the Company maintains a sound 
system of internal controls by reviewing key controls, processes and 
procedures and ensuring their effectiveness. Internal Audit is 
responsible for reviewing the risk profile and developing risk-based audit 
plans that will confirm and verify the existence and effectiveness of 

 system of internal controls and risk management. 
 
The Audit Universe does not only cover internal controls and risk 
management framework over financial risks, but all material risks 
including credit, operational, technology, legal, regulatory, reputational 
and strategic risks. Whether accounting and financial records are 
complete and accurate, material related party transactions, escalation 
processes and reporting systems and extent to which any non-
compliance with internal policies or external legal or regulatory 
obligations is documented and appropriate corrective or disciplinary 
measures are taken.  
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The internal audit function has unrestricted access to the Audit 
.  

Internal Audit in its reporting to the Audit Committee presents the audit 
plan and any amendments for approval, reports if there are factors that 
adversely affecting its independence, objectivity or effectiveness; and 
material findings from audits, reviews or investigations conducted. 
 

functional line of reporting is to the 
Chairman of the Audit Committee although he or she also has an 
administrative reporting line to the CEO of the Company. The 
appointment and dismissal of the Head of Internal Audit is to be 
approved by the Audit Committee and his or her annual appraisal is 
primarily performed by the Chairman of the Audit Committee. 
 
The staff of the internal audit function hold relevant educational or 
professional qualifications and are provided continuing professional 
development to ensure that their knowledge and skills remain current 
and relevant to enable them to discharge their responsibilities. The 
internal audit function adopts the International Standards for the 
Professional Practices of Internal Auditing laid down in the International 
Professional Practices Framework issued by the Institute of Internal 
Auditors ( IIA ). As part of Internal Audit Quality Assurance Improvement 
Program, the Internal Audit function conducts annual internal self-
assessment, successfully completed its last external Quality Assurance 
Review in 2024 and strives to generally conform with or exceed the 
International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing 
of The Institute of Internal Auditors. 

 
 
18. Risk management 

 
(a) Governance framework 

 
The Company has established a framework of responsibilities which is 
consistent with the following generally recognised basic principles of sound 
risk management practice: 
 
(i) The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and ensures that 

Management maintains a sound system of risk management and internal 
controls, to safeguard the interests of the company and its shareholders.  
Appropriate overview by board of directors and senior management; 
 

(ii) The company has a Risk Management Committee which includes the 
Senior Leadership Team, to oversee the overall risk management 
framework; 
 

(iii) Adequate risk management process including identifying, measuring, 
monitoring, controlling and reporting risks on an enterprise-wide basis 
that provides for continuous risk monitoring by management; and 
 

(iv) Comprehensive internal controls and assurance processes linked to key 
business risks. 
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(v) The Head of ERM updates the Board on a quarterly basis, informs the 
Board on revisions to and new issuance of policies and regulations and 

where applicable on policies, regulations and 
guidelines.   

 
(b)  

 
The Company has an ERM framework that enables the Company to support 
risk-based decision making and to meet the regulatory requirements.  The 
framework is aligned to MAS Notice 126. 
 
The key components of the ERM framework are namely the Risk appetite 
statement, the Business strategy, Capital management, Risk management 

 
 
The Company has established a Risk appetite statement, which outlines the 
overall risks, including environmental risks that the Company undertakes in 

reviewed annually and approved by the Board.  
 
The Company has in place a Risk management policy that covers the processes 
to assess, monitor and report risks in the Company. 
 
In line with MAS Notice 126 on ERM, the Company conducts an ORSA 
assessment on an annual basis. 
 
The Company has an independent ERM function directly reporting to the CEO 
to develop the ERM framework and to promote and inculcate an appropriate 
risk culture within the Company.  The framework comprises 3 lines of Defence 

 
 
(i) Under the first LoD, the management owns and manages risks.  The 

management is also responsible for implementing corrective actions to 
address process and control deficiencies.  
 

(ii) Under the second LoD, the ERM Department provides an oversight of the 
risk management practices.  It also reviews and challenges the risks taken 
by the first LoD. 
 

(iii) Under the third LoD, the Internal Audit Department provides an 
independent assurance on the existence & effectiveness of risk 
management and internal controls. 

 
The Company also has in place a whistle-blowing policy whereby accessible 
channels are provided for employees to raise concerns about possible 
improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters, in confidence. 
 

(c) Regulatory framework 
 
The operations of the Company are also subject to local regulatory 
requirements.  Such regulations not only prescribe approval and monitoring of 
activities but also impose certain restrictive provisions e.g. capital adequacy to 
minimise the risk of default and insolvency on the part of the insurance 
companies to meet the unforeseen liabilities as these arise. 
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(d) Insurance risk and risk transfer 
 
The risk under insurance contracts is the possibility of occurrence of an insured 
event and uncertainty of the amount and timing of resulting claim.  The 
principal risk the Company faces under such contracts is that the actual claims 
exceed the carrying amount of insurance liabilities.  This could occur due to any 
of the following: 
 
Occurrence risk  the possibility that the number of insured events 

occurring will differ from those expected. 
 
Severity risk  the possibility that the cost of the insured events which 

occurred will differ from those expected. 
 
Development risk  the possibility that changes may occur in the amount of 

 
 
The variability of risks is improved by diversification of risk of loss to a large 
portfolio of insurance contracts as a more diversified portfolio is less likely to 
be affected across the board by changes in any subset of the portfolio. The 
variability of risks is also improved by careful selection and implementation of 
underwriting strategy and guidelines. 
 
Insurance risk includes underwriting risk and reserving risk. 
 
Underwriting risk refers to the risk associated with volatilities in the timing, 
frequency and severity of insured events, relative to the expectations of the 
insurer at the time of underwriting. 
 
Reserving risk refers to the risk that current reserves are not sufficient to cover 
all future costs including claim settlements and associated claims handling 
expenses in respect of claims that have already occurred. 
 
The objective of the Company is to control and minimise insurance risk to 
reduce volatility of operating profits.  The Company manages insurance risk 
through the following mechanism: 
 
 Actuarial models based on past experience and statistical techniques aid to 

monitor claim patterns and ensure appropriate pricing. 
 

 Insurance reserves are reviewed regularly by actuaries to ensure that the 
amount of reserves held is sufficient.  The risk of under-reserving is unlikely 
to be material as insurance claims in Singapore generally take a relatively 
short time to be reported and settled.  Also, the Company carries an 
additional amount of reserve to cover the possibility of adverse 
development in claims experience at a level such that there is at least a 75 
per cent chance that the reserves will be sufficient. 
 

 Guidelines are issued for concluding insurance contracts and assuming 
insurance risks. 
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 Proactive claims handling procedures are followed to investigate and 
adjust claims, thereby preventing settlement of dubious or fraudulent 
claims. 

 
 

catastrophes by placing risk with re-insurers providing high security. 
 

 Diversification is accomplished by achieving a sufficiently large population 
of risks to reduce the variability of the expected outcome. The 
diversification strategy seeks to ensure that underwritten risks are well 
diversified in terms of classes of business and distribution channels and 
geographical locations. 
 

 The Company underwrites mainly Singapore based risks.  A part of its 
portfolio, primarily marine insurance, relates to insured risks which are 
offshore. 
 

 The Company maximises retention of risk to grow net premium and 
improve the underwriting result. It operates a policy to manage its 
reinsurance counterparty exposures including use of reinsurers with 
defined minimum credit rating. The natural catastrophe exposure is 
analysed using external probabilistic catastrophe models.  Reinsurance is 
then purchased at the appropriate level. 

 
The 
contracts (net of reinsurance) by type of product. 

 
 2024 2023 
   
   
Personal Motor 41,527 37,857 

Personal Property 4,675 4,150 

Personal Other 16,823 18,541 

Commercial Motor 12,619 14,242 

Commercial Property 9,916 10,045 

 44,277 45,646 

Commercial Public Liability 11,659 11,200 

Marine Cargo and Hull 20,061 17,156 

Health Care 18,750 23,552 

Commercial Other 14,344 11,637 

Total 194,651 194,026 
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Sensitivity analysis of insurance liabilities 
 

may be affected by future events, which cannot be predicted with any 
certainty.  The assumptions made may well vary from actual experience so that 
the actual liability may vary considerably from the best estimates. 
 
The Company re-runs its valuation models on various bases.  An analysis of 
sensitivity around various scenarios provides an indication of the adequacy of 

presented below demonstrate the sensitivity of insured liability estimates to 
particular movements in key assumptions used in the estimation process.  
Certain assumptions can be expected to impact the liabilities more than 
others, and consequently a greater degree of sensitivity to these variables may 
be expected. 
 
The analysis below has been prepared for a change in one variable with all 
other variables remaining constant and ignores changes in values of the 
related assets.  The Company recognised that some of the assumptions are 
interdependent but it will be difficult to analyse such interdependencies.  
 
The key assumptions considered in the sensitivity analysis are as follows: 
 
 2024 in 

the method; and 
 . 

 
-

Ferguson method.  This method is usually used by the actuary to estimate 
claims liability applied to claims data in the latest accident/ underwriting years.  
The sensitivity test is performed by changing the IELR by -15% to +15% to 
derive the claims liabilities and only net impact is disclosed in the following 
table. 
 

of claims reserve and it is a major factor to determine unexpected risk reserves 
which is a component of premium liability.  The ULR also affects the claims 
liabilities. 
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The results of the sensitivity analysis (net of reinsurance) and the impact on 
the premium liabilities and claim liabilities as at 31 December are as follows: 
 
 IELR ULR 
 +15% -15% +15% -15% 
     
2024     
Liability for remaining 

coverage   570 (513) 
Liability for incurred 

claims 1,784 (1,784) 18,502 (18,331) 
Impact on profit 

before tax net of 
reinsurance (1,784) 1,784 (19,072) 18,844 

Impact on equity net 
of reinsurance (1,488) 1,488 (15,907) 15,717 

     
 

 IELR ULR 
 +15% -15% +15% -15% 
     
2023     
Liability for remaining 

coverage   589 (550) 
Liability for incurred 

claims 1,572 (1,572) 20,065 (19,896) 
Impact on profit 

before tax net of 
reinsurance (1,572) 1,572 (20,654) 20,456 

Impact on equity net 
of reinsurance (1,309) 1,309 (17,202) 17,029 
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(e) Financial risk management 
 
(i) Credit risk 

 
Credit risk represents the loss that would be recognised if 
counterparties to insurance, reinsurance and investment transactions 
failed to perform as contracted. 
 
The carrying amount of financial investments and cash and cash 

risk. 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk is normally represented by the 
carrying amount of each financial asset in the financial statements, 
although in the case of insurance receivables, it is fairly common 
practice to settle accounts on a net basis.  In such cases, the maximum 
exposure to credit risk is expected to be limited to the extent of the 
amount of financial assets that has not been fully offset by other 
financial liabilities with the same counterparty. 
 
Management of credit risk 
 
The Company extends credit to its intermediaries and customers based 
on commercial terms.  The creditworthiness of reinsurers is assessed on 
a semi-annual basis by reviewing their financial strength through 
published credit ratings, available market information and financial 
reports. 
 
Credit evaluations are performed on all brokers, agents, reinsurers, 
financial institutions and other counterparties.  
 
Strict investment guidelines are used to monitor the risks in the 

securities within a single or group of issuers, and setting the minimum 
ratings for the issuer.  
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Exposure to credit risk 
 
The table below provides information regarding the credit risk 
exposure of the Company by classifying assets according to the 
Company's credit ratings of counterparties: 
 
 Credit ratings 

 AAA 
AA+ to 

AA- A+ to A- 
BBB+ to 

BBB- 
Below 
BBB- 

Not 
rated Total 

       
2024        
Cash and cash 

equivalents 1,000 10,407  66,152  10,574   88,133 
Other receivables 1,783 227 1,950 941 23 3,453 8,377 
Financial investments         
- Measured at FVOCI 221,166 15,127 24,867 53,305  21,024 335,489 
- Measured at FVTPL 980 33,234 4,991 19,892  68,253 127,350 
Reinsurance contract 

assets 749 76,821 75,446   (24,397) 128,619 
Total credit risk 

exposure 225,678 135,816 173,406 84,712 23 68,333 687,968 
        
2023        
Cash and cash 
equivalents  13,433  86,083     99,516 
Other receivables 1,627 184 1,558 469  1,611 5,449 
Financial investments         
- Measured at FVOCI 211,835 5,401 36,152 22,166  29,522 305,076 
- Measured at FVTPL 2,051 22,175 70,665 22,068  18,161 135,120 
Reinsurance contract 
assets 1,732 65,889 66,862 26  (16,578) 117,931 
Total credit risk 
exposure 217,245 107,082 261,320 44,729  32,716 663,092 
        

 
Concentration of credit risk 
 
At the reporting date, there are no significant concentrations of credit 
risk. 
 

(ii) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in 
meeting the obligations associated with its insurance and reinsurance 
contracts and financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or 
another financial asset. Although the relatively illiquid nature of 
insurance contracts allows the Company to invest in less liquid but 
higher-yielding assets, liquidity risk arises from funds composed of 
illiquid assets and results from mismatches in the liquidity profile of 
assets and liabilities. 
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Management of liquidity risk 
 
The Company manages this risk by monitoring daily and monthly 
projected and actual cash inflows and outflows and by ensuring that a 
reasonable amount of financial assets are kept in liquid instruments at 
all times. In respect of Asset Liability Management ( ALM ), the 
Company holds a high proportion of assets in cash or in short-term 
deposits in order to maintain consistency with its short-tail insurance 
liabilities. 
 

liabilities which comprise provision for unexpired risks and provision for 
outstanding claims are likely to materialise fully within 10 years.  For 
insurance contract provisions, the analysis of the estimated timing of 
cash outflows is disclosed in Note 10. 
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The amounts in the table above have been compiled as follows. 
 
The amounts are the gross contractual undiscounted cash flows, which exclude estimated 
interest payments.  Interest payments are shown separately.  The interest on floating-rate 
instruments reflects the market forward interest rates at the reporting date, which may 
change as market interest rates change. 
 
Financial liabilities are allocated to the earliest period in which the Company could be 
required to pay.  Investment contract liabilities and third party interests in consolidated 
funds are immediately payable on demand, because each holder has an option to surrender 
the investment contract or to redeem units in the consolidated funds at any time.  
Accordingly, these amounts have been included in the earliest time band. Most of the 
underlying assets are either cash and cash equivalents or liquid investments that can be 
converted into cash at short notice. 
 
For perpetual debt securities, the contractual par amount has been included in the 'more 
than 5 years' column; interest has been included in the analysis up to 15 years after the 
reporting date. 
 

(iii) Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices.  
Market risk for the Company comprises four types of risks: 
 
 foreign currency risk;  
 interest rate risk; 
 credit spread risk and 
 equity price risk. 

 
Foreign currency risk 
 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows 
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign 
exchange rates. 
 
Investments denominated in foreign currencies are limited to 40% of 
the Insurance Fund assets, as prescribed by the MAS Notice 133 on 
Valuation and Capital Framework for Insurers.  In complying with the 
foreign currency limit, active currency decisions are made when 
investing in foreign currency equities and bonds. 
 

equivalent is as follows: 
 
 2024 2023 
   
   
Financial assets 31,574 26,676 
Financial liabilities (718) (475) 
Insurance and reinsurance contract assets 3,804 333 
Insurance and reinsurance contract liabilities (12,347) (10,670) 
 22,313 15,864 
Effect of foreign exchange contracts (614) 995 
 21,699 16,859 
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Sensitivity analysis 
 
A 10% strengthening of the Singapore dollar against the following 
currency at the reporting date would increase or decrease profit or loss 
by the amounts set out below.  This analysis assumes that all other 
variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant: 
 
  

Profit or loss 
Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

 

 2024 2023 
   
   
United States Dollar (3,135) (2,691) 

   

A 10% weakening of the Singapore dollar against the above currency 
would have had the equal but opposite effect on the above currency, on 
the basis that all other variables remain constant. 
 
The Company invests in a collective investment scheme where the bond 
investments are denominated predominantly in US dollars ( USD ).  
They are hedged back to Singapore dollars to mitigate currency risks 
exposure of the assets of the scheme. 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate due to the impact of changes in 
market interest rates have on interest income from interest bearing 
financial assets. 
 

to cash and cash equivalents and other fixed rate and variable rate 
bonds. 
 

inherently exposed to interest 
rate risk, which arises principally from differences in maturities or re-
pricing of invested assets and the average duration of policy liabilities.  
In dealing with this risk, the Company adopts an approach of focusing 
on achieving a desired overall investment asset profile, which is 
reviewed periodically, based on the average duration of policy liabilities 

-term view 
of interest rates and its impact on bond valuations. 
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The following tables set out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the 
 

 

 
Within 
1 year 

1-2 
years 

2-3 
years 

3-4 
years 

4-5 
years 

More than 
5 years Total 

        
2024        
Fixed rate        
Financial investments         
- Measured at FVOCI 22,005 44,637 21,696 20,124 35,289 191,738 335,489 
- Measured at FVTPL 500 2,451  10,146  9,468 22,565 
        
Fixed deposits 73,649      73,649 
        

Cash at bank  14,484      14,484 

        
2023        
Fixed rate        
Financial investments         
- Measured at FVOCI 35,446 25,595 43,775 22,340 23,462 154,458 305,076 
- Measured at FVTPL 1,982 493 2,374  9,650 26,042 40,541 
        
Fixed deposits 82,684      82,684 
        
Cash at bank  16,832      16,832 

        
As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of collective investment 
scheme was $60.9 million (2023: $60.0 million) with average term to 
maturity of 11.3 years (2023: 11.4 years). 
 
Sensitivity analysis 
 

date would have increased/(decreased) values by the amounts set out 
below.  This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. 
 
There is no direct contractual relationship between financial assets and 

requires it to manage the extent of net interest rate risk by maintaining 
an appropriate mix of fixed and variable rate instruments to support the 
insurance contract liabilities. The Company is exposed to interest rate 
risk in respect of liabilities or assets for incurred claims where cash flows 
are not expected to be settled within a year from when claims are 
incurred. 
 
 100 bp increase 100 bp decrease 

 
Statement of  
profit or loss Equity 

Statement of  
profit or loss Equity 

     

 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 
         
         
Fixed rate 

bonds   (16,535) (14,637)   17,961 15,628 
Collective 

investment 
scheme   (2,183) (2,235)   2,459 2,543 

Insurance and 
reinsurance 
contracts 805 866 671 866 (823) (883) (686) (883) 

 805 866 (18,047) (16,006) (823) (883) 19,734 17,288 
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Equity price risk 
 
Price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices, whether 
those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial 
instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial 
instruments traded in the market.  
 
A monitoring process is in place to limit downside risks at certain pre-
determined levels. Limits are set for equity holdings in a single 
company/group of related companies as a percentage of total assets. 
 
Sensitivity analysis 
 
Impairment losses arising on available-for-sale financial assets are 
recognised in the profit or loss statement.  A 10% increase/(decrease) 
in the prices of underlying shares at the reporting date would 
increase/(decrease) values by the following amount: 
 
 10% increase 10% decrease 

 
Statement  

of profit or loss Equity 
Statement  

of profit or loss Equity 
 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 
         
         
Equity shares   4,899 3,949   (4,899) (3,949) 

         
This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. 
 

(v) Investment and management of funds 
 

shareholder value by maintaining a balance between risks and returns, 
in order to promote stable growth in profits and net asset value over 
the medium and long terms. 
 
The Company has appointed professional fund managers to manage its 
investments. Through regular meetings with the fund managers and 
performance reports, the Company reviews and monitors the 
performance of its investment funds. The Company has also established 
a guideline to address the selection, review and management of its fund 
managers. 
 

(vi) Capital management 
 

 
 
 maintain a strong capital base to sustain and grow the business so 

as to uphold investors, creditors and market confidence; 
 to comply with the regulatory capital requirements for the 

Company; and 
 to provide an adequate return to shareholders through prudent 

underwriting of insurance risks and optimising investment returns 
within the risk parameters established by the Board. 
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Under the financial reporting standards, capital comprises paid-up share 
capital and retained earnings. 
 
In Singapore, the minimum capital requirement under the MAS Notice 
133 on Valuation and Capital Framework for Insurers regulated by the 
Monetary Authority of Singapore  is 100% although a higher 
capital requirement may be prescribed by MAS for individual insurers.  
 
The Company determines the amount of capital in accordance with 
business expansion needs as well as to meet the regulatory capital 
requirements for the Company. 
 
Having considered the key risks the company faces, the Company also 
conducts stress testing analysis annually, which includes quantification 

, 
investment and operational  losses.  Based on the latest stress testing 
review, the Company is assessed to be able to withstand shocks from 
material but reasonable insurance, market and operational risks. 
 
The Company has complied with the minimum capital requirement 
prescribed by MAS. 
 

management during the year. 
 
 
19. Related party transactions 

 
(a) Transactions with related companies 

 
Other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following 
significant related party transactions took place during the year on terms 
agreed between the parties concerned: 
 
  2024  2023 
     
Related Companies     
Management fee   6,220  6,409 
Project cost  3,220  3,220 
Premiums accepted net of commission, 

included as insurance revenue  (3,268)  (2,006) 
Premiums ceded net of commission, included 

in net expenses from reinsurance contracts  38,397  38,285 
Direct claims  528  1,182 
Recovery on paid claims, included in net 

expenses from reinsurance contracts  (62,928)  (19,918) 
Service fee income  (86)  (84) 
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(b)  Compensation of key management personnel 

 
  2024  2023 
     
     
Short-term employee benefits and other 

pension benefit  4,088  4,734 

     
 
20. Leases 

 
Leases as lessee 
 
The Company leases equipment, apartments, office property and vehicles.  The 
leases typically run for a period 2 to 5 years, with an option to renew the lease after 
that date.  Lease payments are renegotiated before the lease expiry to reflect market 
rentals.  
 
Information about leases for which the Company is a lessee is presented below. 
 
Right-of-use assets 
 
Right-of-use assets related to leased properties that do not meet the definition of 
investment property are presented as property, plant and equipment (see Note 8). 
 
  Leasehold improvements    

 
Leased 

equipment 
Office 

Premises Apartment 
Leased 
vehicles Total 

      
2024      
Balance at 1 January 442 3,845 544 929 5,760 
Additions  160  659  819 
Derecognition (6)  (25)  (31) 
Depreciation for the year (180) (3,076) (553) (253) (4,062) 
Balance at 31 December 416 769 625 676 2,486 
      
2023      
Balance at 1 January 147 7,266 598 291 8,302 
Additions  515  427 846 1,788 
Derecognition      
Depreciation for the year (220) (3,421)  (481) (208) (4,330) 
Balance at 31 December 442 3,845 544 929 5,760 
      
 
Lease liabilities 
 Total 
 2024  2023 
    
    
Less than one year 1,859  4,031 
One to five years 873  2,318 
Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 31 December   2,732  6,349 
    
Current 1,821  3,955 
Non-current 855  2,060 
Discounted lease liabilities included in the statement of 

financial position at 31 December 2,676 

 

6,015 



Notes to the financial statements 
  
 
 

80 
 

Amounts recognised in profit or loss 
 
   
2024  
Interest on lease liabilities  90 

  
2023  
Interest on lease liabilities  145 

  
Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows 
 
 2024  2023 
    
    
Total cash outflow for leases 4,167  4,461 

    
Extension options 
 
Some property leases contain extension options exercisable by the Company up to 
one year before the end of the non-cancellable contract period.  Where practicable, 
the Company seeks to include extension options in new leases to provide operational 
flexibility.  The extension options held are exercisable only by the Company and not 
by the lessors.  The Company assess at lease commencement date whether it is 
reasonably certain to exercise the extension options.  The Company reassesses 
whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the options if there is a significant event 
or significant changes in circumstances within its control. 
 
 

21. Authorisation of financial statements for issue 
 
The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 were authorised for 
issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 28 March 2025. 
 
 
 


